
Western and Southern Area Planning 
Committee
Date: Thursday, 10 June 2021
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: MS Team Live Event This meeting will be held remotely as an MS 

Teams Live Event [see link below]
Membership: (Quorum 6) 
Dave Bolwell, Kelvin Clayton, Susan Cocking, Jean Dunseith, Nick Ireland, Paul Kimber, 
Louie O'Leary, Bill Pipe (Vice-Chairman), David Shortell (Chairman), Sarah Williams, 
Kate Wheller and John Worth

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please contact Denise Hunt  01305 224878 - 
denise.hunt@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free 
public app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.
 

Members of the public are invited to view the proceedings of this meeting with the 
exception of any items listed in the exempt part of this agenda. 

In accordance with the decision taken by Full Council on 4 May 2021, this informal 
meeting will take place virtually. Decisions will be made by the appropriate officer following 
a ‘minded to’ decision by members of the committee

This meeting will be held remotely as an MS Teams Live Event (see link below)

Link to watch the meeting

Members of the public are invited to make written representations provided that they are 
submitted to the Democratic Services Officer no later than 8.30am on Tuesday 8 June 
2021.  This must include your name, together with a summary of your comments and 
contain no more than 450 words. 

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MWIzMzUxNzAtMmVmMC00NDQyLWIwOGYtNGU2YmFlZmFiYTZj%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%220a4edf35-f0d2-4e23-98f6-b0900b4ea1e6%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2203ef8677-f6bd-4c40-8f5e-954743dbf78e%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MWIzMzUxNzAtMmVmMC00NDQyLWIwOGYtNGU2YmFlZmFiYTZj%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%220a4edf35-f0d2-4e23-98f6-b0900b4ea1e6%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2203ef8677-f6bd-4c40-8f5e-954743dbf78e%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a


If a councillor who is not on the Planning Committee wishes to address the committee, they 
will be allowed 3 minutes to do so and will be invited to speak before the applicant or their 
representative provided that they have notified the Democratic Services Officer by 8.30am 
on Tuesday 8 June 2021.

Please note that if you submit a representation to be read out on your behalf at the 
committee meeting, your name and written submission will be published as part of 
the minutes of the meeting.

Please refer to the guide to public participation at committee meetings for general 
information about speaking at meetings Guidance to Public Speaking at a Planning 
Committee and specifically the "Covid-19 Pandemic – Addendum to the Guide to Public 
Speaking Protocol for Planning Committee meetings - effective from 20 July 2020" 
included as part of this agenda (see agenda item 4 - Public Participation).

Using social media at virtual meetings
Anyone can use social media such as tweeting and blogging to report the meeting when it 
is open to the public.

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s18265/Guidance%20for%20speaking%20at%20Planning%20Committees.pdf
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s18265/Guidance%20for%20speaking%20at%20Planning%20Committees.pdf


A G E N D A

Page No.

1  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To disclose any pecuniary, other registerable or personal interest as 
set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their disclosure 
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the 
interest and any action they propose to take as part of their 
declaration. 

If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 
in advance of the meeting.

3  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 5 - 6

To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee from 
town and parish councils and members of the public.

Public speaking has been suspended for virtual committee meetings during 
the Covid-19 crisis and public participation will be dealt with through written 
submissions only. 

Members of the public who live, work or represent an organisation within the 
Dorset Council area, may submit up to two questions or a statement of up to a 
maximum of 450 words.  All submissions must be sent electronically to 
denise.hunt@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by the deadline set out below.  When 
submitting a question please indicate who the question is for and include your 
name, address and contact details.  Questions and statements received in line 
with the council’s rules for public participation will be published as a supplement 
to the agenda.

Questions will be read out by an officer of the council and a response given 
by the appropriate Portfolio Holder or officer at the meeting.  All questions, 
statements and responses will be published in full within the minutes of the 
meeting.  The deadline for submission of the full text of a question or 
statement is 8.30am on Tuesday 8 June 2021.

4  PLANNING APPLICATIONS

To consider the applications listed below for planning permission.



a  WD/D/19/002903 - Osmington Mills Holidays, Osmington 
Mills, Weymouth, DT3 6HB 

7 - 20

Use of land as a year round holiday park.

b  WD/D/19/001641 - 7 St Andrews Road, Bridport, DT6 3BG 21 - 26
This is an application for Listed Building Consent.
Internal and external alterations to include formation of 
stepped access from street to front door, fit iron railings on 
existing stone wall and relocate gas boiler to attic space and 
move flue from back wall to rear of roof.

c  WD/D/20/001117 - 7 St Andrews Road, Bridport, DT6 3BG 27 - 32
Formation of stepped access from street to front door and fit 
iron railings on existing stone wall.

d  P/FUL/2021/00148 - West Rivers House, 13 West Allington, 
Bridport, DT6 5BJ 

33 - 56

Conversion of existing 4no. flats into 8no. flats.

5  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes.



Dorset Council

Covid-19 Pandemic – Addendum to the Guide to Public Speaking Protocol for 
Planning Committee meetings – effective from 20 July 2020

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the council has had to put in place measures to 
enable the council’s decision making processes to continue whilst keeping safe 
members of the public, councillors and council staff in accordance with the 
Government’s guidance on social distancing by applying new regulations for holding 
committee meetings from remote locations.

The following procedures will apply to planning committee meetings until further 
notice, replacing where appropriate the relevant sections of the Guide to Public 
Speaking at Planning Committees:

1. While planning committee meetings are held remotely during the Coronavirus 
outbreak public participation will take the form of written statements (and not public 
speaking) to the committee.

2. If you wish to make a written statement is must be no more than 450 words with 
no attached documents and be sent to the Democratic Services Team by 8.30am 
two working days prior to the date of the committee – i.e. for a committee meeting on 
a Wednesday written statements must be received by 8.30am on the Monday.  The 
deadline date and the email contact details of the relevant democratic services 
officer can be found on the front page of the committee agenda.  The agendas for 
each meeting can be found on the Dorset Council website 

Dorset Council Committee List

3. During this period the council can only accept written statements via email and 
you should continue to bear in mind the guidance in the public speaking guide when 
preparing your representation.

4. The first three statements received from members of the public for and against the 
application (maximum six in total) will be read out together with any statement from 
the town and parish council, by an officer (but not the case officer), after the case 
officer has presented their report and before the application is debated by members 
of the Committee.  It may be that not all of your statement will be read out if the 
same point has been made by another statement and already read to the 
Committee.  This is to align with the pre-Covid-19 protocol which limited public 
speaking to 15 minutes per item, although the Chairman of the Committee will retain 
discretion over this time period as she/he sees fit.  All statements received will be 
circulated to the Committee members before the meeting.

5. This addendum applies to members of public (whether objecting or supporting an 
application, town and parish councils, planning agents and applicants.

6. Councillors who are not on the Planning Committee may also address the 
Committee for up to 3 minutes by speaking to the Committee (rather than submitting 
a written statement).  They need to inform Democratic Services of their wish to 
speak at the meeting two working days before the meeting.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: WD/D/19/002903  
Site address: Osmington Mills Holidays, Mills Road, Osmington Mills, Weymouth 
DT3 6HB 

Proposal: Use of land as a year round holiday park. 
Applicant name: Waterside Holiday Group  
Case Officer: Bob Burden 
Ward Member(s): Cllr Nick Ireland 
 
2. Summary of Recommendation:  

                    
Recommendation A: That the Committee would be minded to grant the application 
subject to the conditions and the completion of a section 106 agreement within 6 
months of today’s date (for an ecological contribution of £1,911.30 to be paid prior to 
commencement of the development) as set out in the report and recommends that 
the Head of Planning determines the application accordingly. 
 
Recommendation B: That the committee would be minded to refuse the application 
for the reasons set out below if the legal agreement under Section 106 of the  Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) is not completed within 6 months from 
today’s date  or such extended time as agreed by the Head of Planning and 
recommends that the Head of Planning determines the application accordingly:  
  

1. In the absence of a satisfactory completed legal agreement there would be no 
mechanism to ensure payment of the required ecological contribution (£1,911-
30) in order to satisfactorily mitigate for the impacts of the development on the 
European protected heathlands. In these circumstances the scheme would be 
contrary to the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework (2020-2025), Policy 
ENV2 of the West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015 and the 
NPPF (2019).  
 

3. Reason for the recommendation:  
  

• Para 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out that 
permission should be granted for sustainable development unless specific 
policies in the NPPF indicate otherwise. 

• The location is considered to be sustainable and the proposal is acceptable in 
its design and general visual impact.  

• There is not considered to be any significant harm to neighbouring residential 
amenity. 

• There are no material considerations which would warrant refusal of this 
application. 
  

4. Table of key planning issues  
  

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of development The extension of the use of the 
holiday accommodation specifically for 
holiday purposes, from 10 to the full 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4a



12 months of the year is acceptable in 
principle.  

Effect on visual amenity It is considered that the scheme would 
have an acceptable effect on the 
locality, on the Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and on the Heritage 
Coast. 

Impact on residential amenity The existing effects of activity, traffic 
movements etc, would continue for a 
further 2 months; it is considered this 
is acceptable in residential amenity 
terms.  

Nature conservation  The relevant ecological issue will be 
satisfactorily addressed by means of a 
financial contribution towards 
mitigation to be secured by a section 
106 agreement. 

Access and Parking There are existing highways that 
serve the existing site. The vehicular 
access and on-site parking are 
acceptable. 

  
5. Description of Site 
 

5.1The site is accessed via the A353 main road through Osmington and is located 
on the east side of the Mills Road which runs southwards to Osmington Mills. The 
site contains 68 holiday lodges of cedar external facing.  
  
5.2 The holiday site also has a boutique hotel (5 bedrooms) with bar, restaurant and 
reception area. There is also an outdoor swimming pool, play area and lawns. The 
site broadly speaking sits within a valley aligned north-south with a stream running 
through it. The lodges are positioned along access roads within the site. Public 
footpath S33/12 crosses the southern part of the site on an east-west axis. The 
western site boundary mainly comprises c2.5-3m high conifer and laurel hedging. 
The east boundary is characterised by generally more native, taller trees and 
understorey planting albeit less dense along this boundary. The lodges vary in their 
elevation with higher points towards the north, and particularly to the south on the 
eastern side of the valley.  
  
5.3 At the centre of the site is the permanent building complex comprising a 
brick/tiled building containing a gymnasium together with the “Country Club” building; 
a two storey brick/slate structure. The site is elongated on a roughly north-south axis 
and is bordered by Osmington Mills Road on the west which generally varies in width 
between c4.5m to c 5.5m in parts. There are several dwellings nearby to the west of 
the road. At the northern tip of the site is a detached dwelling; Thyme Cottage of 
natural stone/slate. To the east of this cottage a single carriageway trackway skirts 
the eastern flank of the site. This is Upton Fort Road. Initially it is tarmacked, later 
becoming an unmade trackway. This route is also a public right of way. There are a 
group of dwellings close to the site at the north section of this road, mainly more 

Page 8



modern detached housing on the east side. A different caravan park also lies to the 
south-west of the site. Much of the adjoining land is in agricultural use.  
 

6. Description of Development 
  
                    6.1The site contains 68 holiday lodges. It should be noted that these are compliant 

with the relevant definition of a caravan. A further (one) proposed caravan (again in 
the form of a lodge) is included in the scheme, to be positioned on the site of the 
former Ranch House building (to the left of the main entrance into the site and north 
of the Ownership Enquiries Suite).  

  
                   6.2 The lodges can currently be occupied as holiday accommodation during the year 

apart from between 15th January to 15th March in each calendar year. This 
application now seeks to extend the period of holiday usage to take place over the 
full year.  

  
                   6.3 The lodges are of timber (cedar) external treatment. They are generally on 

wheels and screwed down legs with axle stands for stability. Some are also secured 
with chains. Lodge bases generally have horizontal timber “skirts” surrounding them. 

  
7. Relevant Planning History   
 

WD/D/15/000115 Extensions to “Country Club” to form boutique hotel. Approved 
13/5/15. 
  
WD/D/15/000492 Erection of cedar lodge (1 caravan unit). Allowed on appeal 
APP/F1230/W/3151917    24/10/16. 
  
1/E/84/528 Re-structuring of facilities to upgrade and enhance existing caravan and 
camping parks. Approved 23/6/87. 
  
1/E/97/000462 remove condition 2 of 1/E/77/583 to enable club premises to operate 
throughout the year. Approved 27/10/98.  
  

8. List of Constraints  
 
Outside defined development boundary 
Within Heritage Coast 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty:  (statutory protection in order to conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty of their landscapes - National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act of 1949 & Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 2000)  
Historic Contaminated site buffer   
Heathland Consultation Area  
Right of Way 

  
9. Consultations 
  
Dorset Waste Partnership - No issues. 

  

Page 9



Flood Risk Management - As no increase in impermeable surface area we have no 
objection. 
  
Highways Officer - No objection. 
  
Tree Officer - No objections. 
  
Environmental Health Officer - No comments regarding any contaminated land 
issues. 
  
Caravan site licensing - The existing caravan site licensing relevant to this site 
allows up to a maximum of 130 caravan pitches for holiday/leisure purposes 
(Kingfisher site up to 20; Ranch House up to 20 and Adjacent Ranch House up to 
90). 
  
Senior Ranger-Rights of Way - No objection provided Footpath 12 is not 
obstructed. 
  
Natural England - Require further information on exactly how many lodges are on 
the site. Heathlands SPD applies. Proposal will have a Likely Significant Effect on 
the European and International wildlife sites in locality (Warmwell Heath SSSI) 
arising from increase in residential units and hence increase in urban related 
pressures such as recreational access.  
 
LPA should secure the appropriate Heathland Infrastructure Project mitigation 
contribution reflective of the increase in dwellings through the adopted strategic 
solutions approach.  
 
Up to the applicant to provide a Strategic Access Management & Monitoring 
contribution reflective of effective increase in dwellings through the adopted strategic 
solutions approach. 
  
To enable LPA to secure these measures and conclude no adverse impact will need 
to apply the maximum number of permitted units that the seasonal restriction 
variation may apply to in a worst case scenario within the limits of the permission 
and site licence. 
 

If your authority is unable to secure either of these mitigation measures please re-
consult Natural England as our advice is likely to be amended to an objection.  
  
Technical Services - No objection to the proposal but take the opportunity to advise 
that as parts of the site are in flood zones 2 & 3, it is advisable that a flood warning 
and evacuation plan is in place.  
  
Parish Council - Object to this application for the following reasons: 
-Increased light pollution in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
-The chalets would have a detrimental visual impact on the local area as they would 
be well lit and highly visible. The site no longer benefits from being well screened 
with trees and shrubs. 

Page 10



-Osmington Mills is a small hamlet of mostly permanent residents. Facilities on the 
holiday site encourage its residents to remain on site and does not encourage 
integration within the already established community.  
  
All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website. 
  
10. Representations  
  
22 letters of objection/comment. The main planning-related comments include: 
  

-increased traffic congestion, particularly on Mills Road 
-increased light pollution 
-loss of winter peace and tranquillity for residents of area 
-increased visual impact from any future larger chalets 
-trees/vegetation been removed to improve views –making chalets more visible 

-would encourage more chalets to be added 
-undesirable precedent that could lead to becoming permanent residential houses 
instead 
-deterioration of Upton Fort Road due to increased sewage tanker movements  
-large year-round chalet allowed on appeal should not be a precedent 
-lack of evidence to justify extending holiday use in the 2 extra winter months 

-lack of infrastructure-especially water services; tankers have to visit frequently- 
-increased strain on doctors, schools, emergency services, lack of public transport 
-Mills Road-a lane inadequate to take increased traffic 
-increased visitor pressure leading to exacerbating on-lane parking on Mills Road. 
-noise pollution 

Could result in increased flood risk 
-harm the natural beauty of area, and site more visible in winter 

-detrimental to Heritage Coast 
-detrimental to views from various public footpaths (across and adjacent to site) 

-query how enforce not becoming permanent dwellings 
-no community benefit for residents from this proposal 
-no additional infrastructure offered to support this use 

-detrimental to views from public footpaths 
-consider real demand is for permanent holiday homes-not chalets 

-would unacceptably increase the population of the hamlet 
  
Full copies of letters can be viewed on the Dorset Council website. 
  
11. Relevant Policies 
  
West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015 

• INT1. Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

• ENV1. Landscape, Seascape and Sites of Geological Interest 

• ENV2. Wildlife and Habitats  

• ENV9 Pollution and contaminated land 

• ENV10. The Landscape and Townscape Setting 

• ENV12. The Design and Positioning of Buildings 

• ENV16. Amenity 

• ECON5. Tourism Attractions and Facilities   

Page 11



• COM7. Creating a Safe and Efficient transport Network 

• COM9. Parking Standards in New Development   
  
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
As far as this application is concerned the following sections of the NPPF are 
considered to be relevant: 

  
2.        Achieving sustainable development  
4          Decision-making 
6.        Building a strong, competitive economy  
12.      Achieving well-designed places 
14.      Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
15.      Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
  
Decision-making- 
Para 38 - Local planning authorities should approach decisions on proposed 
development in a positive and creative way. They should use the full range of 
planning tools available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, 
and work proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every 
level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development where 
possible. 
  
Other material considerations 

Design and Sustainable Development Guidelines 2009.  
West Dorset Landscape Character Assessment 2009 
Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework (2020-2025) 

Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole Parking Standards 

  
12. Human rights  
  
Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 
The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property 
  
This Recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party. 
  
13. Public Sector Equalities Duty  
  
As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:- 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people 

• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 

Page 12



Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the PSED. 
The positioning of car spaces generally close to the holiday lodges would assist the 
elderly or less able users of the holiday units. 
  
14. Financial benefits  
Material considerations  
Additional employment on-site due to the extended period of holiday usage. 
Likely increased winter period visitor spending in local shops and facilities. 
  
15. Climate Implications                      
The existing number of lodges would have a further lodge added. The additional 2 
months of use would result in potentially more traffic movements and servicing 
vehicles and activity increasing emissions during the winter. However, this increase 
–which would likely be similar to the existing normal operating use pattern and is 
considered to be outweighed by the benefit of allowing winter holiday breaks with 
potential for spending by users in local shops and facilities out of season.  

  
16. Planning Assessment 
 
Principle of development- 
 

16.1 This application relates to a well-established holiday park comprising timber 
lodges. The application site has been used historically for holiday caravans since at 
least the early 1950’s When the applicant took over the site in 2009 it is understood 
there were 99 static caravans on site. These have now been replaced with 68 timber 
lodges. In essence, the individual holiday lodges are owned freehold by persons who 
have a leasehold agreement regarding the land.   
  
16.2 In 1984 a planning application was submitted for the “re-structuring of facilities 
to upgrade and enhance existing caravan and camping parks “(1/E/84/528).  This 
was a consolidating application which covered additional areas as well as this site. 
That application was approved on 23/6/87. It was linked to a Section 52 agreement 
(now known as Section 106) dated 1 May 1987. This legal agreement specified that 
land (including the application site) together with additional land to the north and 
west could not be used for tents (with the exception of a parcel of land to the west 
which could be used for up to 225 tents).  
  
16.3 The Caravan Site Licencing information from the Environmental Health Officer 
indicates the application site area has licensing for up to 20 caravans (“Kingfisher” 
site), 20 caravans (adjacent “Ranch House”) and 90 caravans (“Ranch House”). This 
makes a total of licensing for up to 130 caravans.  
  
Policy context- 
16.4 The site lies outside any defined development boundary (DDB) in the Local 
Plan.  Policy ECON7 of the adopted West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local 
Plan gives the context for new, or changes to existing, caravan and camping sites, 
and allows for this type of development outside DDB’s subject to other material 

Page 13



planning considerations.  In this case the site is already present. The proposal 
includes 1 additional lodge to be provided in addition to the 68 already 
present.                                                                                                                          
          

                  16.5 At present the lodges can currently be occupied as holiday accommodation 
during the year apart from between 15th January to 15th March in each calendar year. 
This application now seeks to extend the period of holiday usage for the full calendar 
year.  

  
                   16.6 National Planning Policy Guidance has for some years encouraged the 

extension of the tourist season beyond the more traditional holiday season to allow 
greater non-traditional seasonal usage. 

  
16.7 Extending the length of the season to encompass the full year could help meet 
any increasing demand for short breaks and holidays at any time of the year; it could 
result in more spending in local pubs, shops and facilities; could contribute to 
increased employment opportunities on the site, and provide increased scope for UK 
based holidays. It may also be that Brexit and possibly Covid considerations may 
encourage increased domestic holidays at the expense of foreign breaks.  
  
16.8 A Ministerial Statement (extract) of 14 July 2020, (whilst admittedly referencing 
a mid-Covid period context) has some relevance here and illustrates the point 
regarding local economic benefits: 
 
Caravan and holiday parks in England were able to reopen from 4th July 2020. 
Extending their operation beyond the usual summer season will be invaluable to 
parks as the sector begins to recover. We are aware that current planning conditions 
may limit their open season. The temporary relaxation of these planning restrictions 
can play a vital role in helping local businesses to get up and running again. 
  
16.9 The NPPF also refers as below: 
 

Para 83 Supporting a Prosperous Rural Economy- decisions should enable: 
“sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of 
the countryside”. 
  
16.10 Examples of previous planning decisions in the wider locality have supported 
the extension of the holiday season to the full year in the south Dorset area: 
  
The Silverlake development at Crossways (1/D/13/001112); under the approval for 
up to 1,000 holiday chalets/lodges, the restriction is for holiday use only but not 
restricted to any part of the year; 
 

At the Waterside Holiday Park, Bowleaze Coveway, Weymouth on the touring field, 
this has been approved for stationing 14 cedar holiday lodges without a seasonal 
restriction (WP/19/01005/FUL). The same applicant as on the current application 
site. 
 

16.11 On this very application site on 24 October 2016, an appeal inspector allowed 
an appeal for an additional holiday lodge, conditioning it for holiday use/ schedule of 

Page 14



occupiers, with all-year round holiday use allowed. The reference is 
WD/D/15/000492; appeal reference APP/F1230/W/3151917. 
  
16.12 Questions can sometimes be raised over how if allowed for 12 months the 
Local Planning Authority can ensure the holiday use does not become permanent 
residential use?  There are a number of measures which are relevant here. Firstly, 
planning conditions would be applied to limit the use to holiday purposes only, and to 
require the operator to maintain a schedule of occupiers which can be checked by an 
authorised Dorset Council officer. Secondly, under the auspices of the 
Environmental Health Officer the current Caravan Site Licence 366/87 (transferred to 
the current operator in 2009) has its own set of restrictions which includes a 
requirement to be consistent with the conditions on the relevant planning permission.  
Thirdly, whilst this does not fall under planning control it is useful to note the current 
contractual obligations required by the site owner under their commercial licence 
agreement as they relate to the lodges; among its provisions it states: 
  
“You can only use the Holiday Home for holiday and recreational purpose. You must 
not use the holiday home as your only or main residential home. If you do use the 
Holiday Home as your only or main home, then you will be breaking the terms of the 
Pitch Licence Agreement”. 
 

The applicant also requires that no post can be delivered to the site. 
  
16.13 Clearly, it would be open to the LPA to take enforcement action if there were 
breaches of the authorised use of the lodges. In the light of the above points it is 
considered that the principle of extending the holiday occupation season to allow 
holidays at any time of the year is acceptable in principle, subject to any other 
relevant planning considerations.  
  
Effect on Visual Amenity- 

  
16.14 The site lies within the designated Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) and within the Heritage Coast. It is also crossed in its southern section by 
Public Footpath 33/12. The NPPF states: at para 172, testifying to the “great weight 
to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty . . .in AONB’s”.  And 
continues in respect of the Heritage Coast “decisions should be consistent with the 
special character of the area and the importance of its conservation”. 
  
16.15 The site is therefore in a visually sensitive location. The site benefits from 
existing tree and/or hedge planting to the majority of its boundaries. Whilst there are 
various public locations where sight of the lodges is possible, in general the site is 
well contained visually by the screening. The existing views from the public footpath 
crossing the site would remain. This proposal largely relates to the existing lodges in 
terms of their extended occupancy. There is also a site for a lodge at the southern 
end of the site which was allowed on appeal (WD/D/15/000492 - 
APP/F1230/W/16/3151917) in 2016.  Also a further lodge/caravan is proposed to be 
located on the former site of the Ranch House building. This would be visible from 
the main site entrance. However, given the presence of the existing lodges and other 
built development in the locality its addition is considered acceptable in visual terms.  
  

Page 15



16.16 It is considered that the existing layout and proposed siting of the additional 
lodge would not harm the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty nor the Heritage 
Coast. The scheme is considered to be acceptable in visual amenity terms.  
  
Residential amenity- 
  
16.17 The existing holiday park clearly entails activity and movements of people and 
vehicles, together with the movements of servicing and delivery vehicles. 
Representations have been received regarding the potential for increased noise and 
disturbance in the winter period. Whilst it is true to say this proposal may result in an 
increase in noise and activity at the site in mid-winter for local residents, the level of 
any noise and disturbance resulting from an extension to the full year is likely to be 
no greater than that at present.  
  
16.18 There are a number of dwellings near the site and certain of which have a 
common boundary with the site. However, it is not considered that the extension of 
the use from 10 to 12 months would have an unacceptable effect on residential 
amenity by reason of noise or disturbance. 
  
Nature Conservation- 
 

16.19 The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework (2020-2025) Supplementary 
Planning guidance applies.  
  
16.20 As advised by Natural England the proposal will have a Likely Significant 
Effect on the European and International wildlife sites in the locality (Warmwell Heath 
SSSI) arising from an effective increase in residential-type units and hence an 
increase in urban related pressures such as recreational access.  
  
16.21 Accordingly, the Council has carried out an Appropriate Assessment (AA) 
under the Habitats Regulations Assessment as Competent Authority in accordance 
with the  requirements of Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017, Article 6 (3) of the Habitats Directive and having due regard to its 
duties under Section 40(1) of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 
(NERC) Act 2006 to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. 
  
16.22 The extension of occupancy by a further 2 months and the additional caravan 
proposed triggers this aspect. Following from the comments of Natural England the 
council has secured the appropriate Heathland Infrastructure Project mitigation 
contribution reflective of the effective increase in units through the adopted strategic 
solutions approach. This results in an ecological contribution figure of 
£1,911.30.  This would be secured by an appropriate legal obligation. The applicant 
has indicated they would provide a unilateral undertaking.  In these circumstances 
the nature conservation issue has been appropriately addressed by securing the 
appropriate mitigation for the impacts.  
  
Highways- 
  
16.23 The site is accessed from the A353 main road, then along Mills Road which 
serves the site and the Osmington Mills area. This road is relatively narrow with 

Page 16



some passing places. Its width varies between about 3.75m to 5.5m width. The 
existing holiday park has a level of traffic and movements associated with it. This 
scheme adds one lodge/caravan over and above those currently present.  As such, 
overall the traffic generated would be similar to that at present, albeit for an 
additional 2 months. The Highway Officer has reviewed the application and has no 
objections. It is considered that the scheme is acceptable in highway safety terms.  
  
Comments on Parish Council observations- 

  
16.24 The Parish Council object to the scheme. They consider there would be 
increased light pollution in the AONB. The existing holiday park already has lighting 
in place. Whilst it is true that the lighting usage would continue for a further 2 
months, this would only be at similar levels to that which is established on the site. 
  

16.25 They are also concerned that the chalets would have a detrimental visual 
impact on the locality, citing that the site does not benefit from being well screened 
with trees/shrubs. It must be borne in mind that the chalets are almost entirely 
already in place. And save for one additional new lodge on the former “Ranch 
House” site there are no other new lodges proposed. Hence, the visual impact is 
essentially similar to that at present. It is considered that the existing planting around 
the site’s edges is sufficient to satisfactorily integrate the holiday park into the 
landscape context.  
  
16.26 They also mention that “facilities on the holiday site encourage its residents to 
remain on site and does not encourage integration within the already established 
community”.  
  
16.27 The Case Officer would comment that as a holiday park it would not normally 
be the expectation that holiday makers would necessarily engage with wider 
community activities; this would be very much an individual choice on how they wish 
to spend their time on holiday. 
  
17. Conclusion 
 

17.1 The extension of the holiday occupation period from 10 months to the full 12 
months of the year would allow greater flexibility and/or opportunity for taking 
holidays out of the main season. This is a sustainable development as it already 
exists in this location. From an economic viewpoint it could result in economic 
benefits to local facilities in the otherwise quieter winter months. In environmental 
terms the ecological considerations have been addressed, and the site has sufficient 
existing planting to its boundaries. In terms of social considerations the holiday 
occupiers may develop social links either within or outside the holiday park. 
  
18. RECOMMENDATION  

  
RECOMMENDATION A: That the Committee would be minded to grant the application 
subject to the conditions and the completion of a section 106 agreement within 6 
months of today’s date (for an ecological contribution of £1,911.30 to be paid prior to 
commencement of the development) as set out in the report and recommends that the 
Head of Planning determines the application accordingly. 

Page 17



  
And subject to the following conditions:   

  
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
Block Plan received 25/11/19 
Layout Plan-Northern Section 2020 09 09 A received 11/1/21 
Layout Plan -Southern Section 2020 09 10 A received 11/1/21 

  
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
   
2. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission. 
  
REASON:  This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
  
3. Not more than 69 holiday caravans shall be stationed on the application site. 
  
REASON: To ensure the intensity of use does not cause visual harm to the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and the Heritage Coast.  
  
4. The caravans subject to this permission shall be occupied for holiday purposes 
only and shall not be occupied as a person’s sole, or main place of residence. 
  
REASON: To ensure that approved holiday accommodation is not used for 
unauthorised permanent residential occupation. 
  
5.The owners/operators must maintain an up-to-date register of the names and main 
homes addresses of all owners/occupiers of individual caravans on the site, together 
with the dates of occupation. The said register shall be made available for inspection 
during all reasonable hours at the request of an officer of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
  
REASON: To ensure that approved holiday accommodation is not used for 
unauthorised permanent residential occupation. 
  
6. The caravans subject to this permission shall be externally clad and retained 
thereafter in timber cladding.  
  
REASON: In the interests of protecting the visual amenity of the Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and the Heritage Coast.   
  
Informatives: This permission shall be read in conjunction with a legal agreement 
dated (insert date when known) addressing the ecological contribution.  
 

RECOMMENDATION B: That the committee would be minded to refuse the 
application for the reasons set out below if the legal agreement under Section 106 of 
the  Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) is not completed  within 6 

Page 18



months from today’s date or such extended time as agreed by the Head of Planning 
and recommends that the Head of Planning determines the application accordingly: 
  

1. In the absence of a satisfactory completed legal agreement there would be no 
mechanism to ensure payment of the required ecological contribution (£1,911-
30) in order to satisfactorily mitigate for the impacts of the development on the 
European protected heathlands. In these circumstances the scheme would be 
contrary to the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework (2020-2025), Policy 
ENV2 of the West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015 and the 
NPPF (2019).  

 
  

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5 
 

Application Number: 
WD/D/19/001641      

Type of Application This is an application for Listed Building Consent 
Site address: 7 ST ANDREWS ROAD, BRIDPORT, DT6 3BG 

Proposal:  Internal and external alterations to include formation of stepped 
access from street to front door, fit iron railings on existing stone 
wall and relocate gas boiler to attic space and move flue from 
back wall to rear of roof 

Applicant name: 
Mr S Williams 

Case Officer: 
Steven Banks 

Ward Member(s): Cllr Bolwell; Cllr Clayton; Cllr Williams  

 
1.0 Reason for the application to be considered at a Planning Committee 
Meeting: 
 
The applicant is related to an elected member. 
 
2.0 Summary of Recommendation: 
That the Committee would be minded to grant the application subject to the 
conditions set out in the report and recommends that the Head of Planning 
determines the application accordingly. 
 
3.0  REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION:  

• The proposal, subject to the imposition of conditions, relating to material 
details and construction methods for the proposed steps and the appearance 
of the proposed railings would enhance the appearance of the curtilage of the 
listed building. 

• The proposed works, by reason of their nature, would not result in a harmful 
loss of historic fabric. 

   
4.0  KEY PLANNING ISSUES  
 

Issue Conclusion 

Impact on character and appearance of 
listed building and its setting 
 

• Subject to the imposition of conditions, 
relating to material details and 
construction methods for the proposed 
steps and the appearance of the 
proposed railings, the proposed stone 
steps and railings, by reason of their 
attractive design and traditional 
materials, would enhance the 
appearance of the curtilage of the listed 
building. 
 

• The benefit from the increase in living 
space, which would result from the 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4b



Page 2 of 5 
 

relocation of the boiler and associated 
flue and make the listed building would 
attractive as a dwelling and therefore 
help to ensure its long term use,  would 
outweigh the less than substantial harm 
that the flue, by reason of its size and 
positioning, would cause to the 
appearance of the listed building.  

 
 

Historic fabric  
 

• The proposed works, by reason of their 
nature, would not result in a harmful loss 
of historic fabric. 
 

 
5.0  DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
This proposal relates to a rendered and natural stone, Grade II listed, mid-terraced 
dwelling under a slate covered roof.  The dwelling, which can be found on the north-
west side of St Andrew’s Road in Bridport, forms part of a terrace of Grade II listed 
dwellings.  The site is within the Bridport Conservation Area. 
 
6.0  DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
In this application for listed building consent it is proposed to remove:  One handrail; 
one concrete ramp and concrete block walling and to install metal railings and 
natural stone steps.  It is also proposed to relocate a boiler and flu.     
 
7.0  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY   
There is no planning history which is relevant to this planning application.   
 
8.0  LIST OF CONSTRAINTS 

• Grade II Listed Building 

• Bridport Conservation Area 
 
9.0  CONSULTEES 
All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website. 
 
Conservation Officer: No objection subject to the imposition of two conditions, 
relating to material details and construction methods for the proposed steps and the 
appearance of the proposed railings on any planning permission.  
 
Bridport Town Council: No objection. 
 
Representations received  

Total – Objections Total - No Objections Total - Comments 

0 
  

0 0 

 
10.0  RELEVANT POLICIES 
Adopted West Dorset and Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015)(Local Plan) 

• ENV4.   Heritage Assets 

Page 22

https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/media/209581/West-Dorset-Weymouth--Portland-Local-Plan-2015/pdf/West_Dorset__Weymouth___Portland_Local_Plan_2015.pdf


Page 3 of 5 
 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (NPPF) 
Section 04   Decision making 
Section 16.  Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
11.0  HUMAN RIGHTS 
Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 
 
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 
 
The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property 
 
This Recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party. 
 
12.0  PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITIES DUTY 
As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty.  There are 3 main aims: 
• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics 
• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people 
• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 
 
Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the PSED. 
 
13.0  PLANNING ASSESSMENT  
 
Impact on the character and appearance of the listed building and its setting: 
 
13.1 The handrail, concrete ramp and concrete block walling, by reason of their 
materials and design, are an unattractive feature within the curtilage of the grade II 
listed building.  These elements are of no significance to any heritage asset, either 
the listed building or Conservation Area.  The proposed removal of these elements is 
welcomed.   
 
13.2 Subject to the imposition of conditions, relating to material details and 
construction methods for the proposed steps and the appearance of the proposed 
railings the proposed works by reason of their attractive design and traditional 
materials, would enhance the appearance of the curtilage of the listed building. 
 
13.3 The impact that the proposed relocation of the boiler would have on the fabric of 
the listed building, by reason of the limited intervention into the historic fabric of the 
listed building, would not cause material harm to the listed building.   
 

Page 23



Page 4 of 5 
 

13.4 It is considered that the siting of the flue in the rear roof slope of the dwelling, by 
reason of its size and positioning, would cause less than substantial harm to the 
appearance of the listed building.  Paragraph 196 of the NPPF identifies that, where 
a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 
of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  The 
proposed relocation of the flue which relates to the relocation of the boiler would 
allow for the creation of a larger bedroom which would improve the living conditions 
for occupiers. This in turn would make the continued use of the building as a dwelling 
more attractive to current and future owners and therefore help to ensure its long 
term use. This benefit would outweigh the less than substantial harm that the flue 
would have.       
 
13.5 The proposal would accord with policy ENV4 of the Local Plan and Part 16 of 
the NPPF which require, among other things, development to protect the significance 
of heritage assets. 
 
13.6 As required by section 16 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation 
areas) Act 1990, the local planning authority, in considering whether to grant listed 
building consent for the proposed works, has had special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building, its setting and features of special architectural and historic 
interest which it possesses. 
 
14.0  CONCLUSION: 
For the reasons given above it is concluded that that the proposal should be granted 
subject to the conditions below.    
 
15.0  RECOMMENDATION:  
That the Committee would be minded to grant the application subject to the 
conditions set out in the report and recommends that the Head of Planning 
determines the application accordingly. 
 
1.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 
Location plan – Received 27/06/2019 
Block plan – Received 27/06/2019 
154/5A – Received 12/05/2020 
154/6B – Received 19/01/2021 
154/7A – Received 19/01/2021 
 
REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
2.  The work to which it relates must be begun no later than the expiration of three 
years beginning with the date on which the consent is granted. 
 
REASON: This condition is required to be imposed by reason of Section 18 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended). 
 

Page 24



Page 5 of 5 
 

3.  Prior to the installation of any railings detailed sections (scale 1:5) and elevations 
(scale 1:10) of the railings hereby approved, shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the development 
shall proceed in strict accordance with such details as have been agreed.  
 
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity. 
  
4. Prior to the installation of any steps details of the stone to be used shall have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, 
the development shall proceed in strict accordance with such materials as have been 
agreed. 
 
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
5. Prior to the installation of any steps details of the construction method shall have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter, the development shall proceed in strict accordance with such details as 
have been agreed. 
 
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
Informative 
 
1. In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning 
authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on 
providing sustainable development.  
The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:   
- offering a pre-application advice service, and             
- as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 
  
In this case:          
- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the opportunity to 
address issues identified by the case officer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6 
 

Reference No: WD/D/20/001117  

Proposal:  Formation of stepped access from street to front door and fit iron railings on 

existing stone wall  

Address: 7 ST ANDREWS ROAD, BRIDPORT, DT6 3BG  

Case Officer: Steven Banks 

Ward Members: Cllr Bolwell; Cllr Clayton; Cllr Williams  

 
1.0  Reason for the application to be considered at a Planning Committee 
Meeting: The applicant is related to an elected member. 
 
2.0  Summary of Recommendation:   
That the Committee would be minded to grant the application subject to the 
conditions set out in the report and recommends that the Head of Planning 
determines the application accordingly. 
 
3.0  REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION:  

• The proposal, subject to the imposition of conditions, relating to material 
details and construction methods for the proposed steps and the appearance 
of the proposed railings, on any planning permission, would enhance the 
appearance the curtilage of the listed building and the character of the 
conservation area.  

  
4.0  KEY PLANNING ISSUES  
 

Issue Conclusion 

Character and appearance 
 

Subject to the imposition of conditions, relating 
to material details and construction methods for 
the proposed steps and the appearance of the 
proposed railings, on any permission, the 
proposed stone steps and railings would 
enhance the appearance of the curtilage of the 
listed building and the character of the 
conservation area and would form a more 
cohesive relationship with neighbouring 
properties. 

 

Amenity 
 

The proposed works, by reason of their nature, 
size and positioning, would not have a 
materially harmful impact on the amenity of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties.   

 

Highway safety 
 

There would not be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety due to the design of the 
proposal. 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4c



Page 2 of 6 
 

 
5.0  DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
This proposal relates to a rendered and natural stone, Grade II listed, mid-terraced 
dwelling under a slate covered roof.  The dwelling, which can be found on the north-
west side of St Andrew’s Road in Bridport, forms part of a terrace of Grade II listed 
dwellings which fall within the Dorset AONB, Bridport Conservation Area and 
Bridport Defined Development Boundary.   
 
6.0  DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
In this application for planning permission it is proposed to remove:  One handrail; 
one concrete ramp and concrete block walling and to install metal railings and 
natural stone steps.   
 

The proposal to insert a flue in the rear roof slope of the dwelling has been assessed 
against Class G of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) and it has been 
concluded that the development constitutes permitted development.     
 
7.0  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY   
There is no planning history which is relevant to this planning application.   
 
8.0  LIST OF CONSTRAINTS 

• Bridport Defined Development Boundary 

• Bridport Conservation Area 

• Dorset AONB 

• Grade II Listed Building 
 
9.0  CONSULTEES 
All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website. 
 
Environmental Health: No comment.  
 
Highways Department: No objection subject to the attachment of an informative, 
relating to works adjacent to a public highway, on any planning permission. 
 
Conservation Officer: No objection subject to the imposition of two conditions, 
relating to material details and construction methods for the proposed steps and the 
appearance of the proposed railings on any planning permission.  
 
Bridport Town Council: Support. This is a welcome improvement. 
 
Representations received  

Total – Objections Total - No Objections Total - Comments 

0 
  

0 0 

 
10.0  RELEVANT POLICIES 
Adopted West Dorset and Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015)(Local Plan) 

• INT1.  Presumption In Favour Of Sustainable Development  

• ENV1.  Landscape, Seascape and Sites of Geological Interest 

Page 28

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/schedule/2/part/1/crossheading/class-f-hard-surfaces-incidental-to-the-enjoyment-of-a-dwellinghouse/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/schedule/2/part/1/crossheading/class-f-hard-surfaces-incidental-to-the-enjoyment-of-a-dwellinghouse/made
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/media/209581/West-Dorset-Weymouth--Portland-Local-Plan-2015/pdf/West_Dorset__Weymouth___Portland_Local_Plan_2015.pdf


Page 3 of 6 
 

• ENV4.   Heritage Assets 

• ENV10.  The Landscape and Townscape Setting 

• ENV12.  The Design and Positioning Of Buildings 

• ENV16.  Amenity 
 
Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan 

• D8.  Contributing to Local Character 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (NPPF) 
Section 02.  Achieving Sustainable Development 
Section 04   Decision making 
Section 12.  Achieving well designed places 
Section 16.  Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Other material considerations 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

• Bridport Conservation Area Appraisal 2010  

• Dorset Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2019 - 2024 

• West Dorset Landscape Character Assessment 2009 
 
11.0  HUMAN RIGHTS 
Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 
 
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 
 
The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property 
 
This Recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party. 
 
12.0  PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITIES DUTY 
As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty.  There are 3 main aims: 
• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics 
• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people 
• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 
 
Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the PSED. 
 
13.0  PLANNING ASSESSMENT  
Principle of development 
 

Page 29

https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/conservation/west
http://www.dorsetaonb.org.uk/assets/downloads/ManagementPlan/2014-2019-DAONB-MP.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/media/136430/Landscape-Character-Assessment-February-2009/pdf/Landscape_Character_Assessment_February_2009.pdf


Page 4 of 6 
 

13.1 The principle of the carrying out of the proposed works is accepted, subject to 
other material considerations such as the impact that the proposed works would 
have on residential amenity, the setting of the listed building, visual amenity and 
highway safety.   
 
Character and appearance of the Conservation Area and setting of the listed 
building: 
 
1 3.2The handrail, concrete ramp and concrete block walling, by reason of their 
materials and design, are an unattractive feature within the curtilage of the grade II 
listed building, street-scene and the Bridport Conservation Area.  These elements 
are of no significance to any heritage asset.  The proposed removal of these features 
is welcomed.   
 
 13.3 Subject to the imposition of conditions, relating to material details and 
construction methods for the proposed steps and the appearance of the proposed 
railings, on any planning permission, the proposed works would be of greater would 
enhance the curtilage of the listed building and the character of the conservation 
area and would form a more cohesive relationship with neighbouring properties.         
 
13.4 The proposal would enhance the distinctive character of the area and would 
accord with policies ENV4 and ENV10 of the Local Plan and Part 16 of the NPPF 
which require, among other things, development to protect the significance of 
heritage assets and to be informed by the character of the site and its surroundings.  
The proposal would also accord with policies ENV1 and ENV12 of the Local Plan, 
policy D8 of the Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan and Part 12 of the NPPF which 
seek, among other things, achieve well-designed places. 
 
13.5 As required by Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
areas) Act 1990, the local planning authority, in considering whether to grant 
planning permission for the proposed works, has paid special attention to the 
desirability of preserving and enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation area.  
  
13.6 As required by Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 the local planning authority, in considering whether to grant 
planning permission for the development which affects a listed building, has had 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building and its setting and any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.   
 
Amenity 
13.7 The proposed works, by reason of their nature, size and positioning, would not 
have a materially harmful impact on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties.  The proposal would accord with policy ENV16 which seeks to ensure 
that development proposals do not have a significant adverse effect on the living 
conditions of the occupiers of properties.  There would be no conflict with paragraph 
127 of the NPPF either, which, among other things, notably, requires a high standard 
of amenity for existing and future users. 
 
 

Page 30



Page 5 of 6 
 

Highway safety 
13.8 It is identified in paragraph 109 of the NPPF and policy COM7 of the Local Plan 
that development should only be refused, on highways grounds, if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety or if the residual cumulative impacts on the 
road network would be severe.  The Highway Authority did not object to the proposal 
on either of these grounds.  It is therefore concluded that the proposal should not be 
refused on highways grounds.      
 
14.  CONCLUSION/SUMMARY: 
For the reasons given it is concluded that that planning permission should be 
granted subject to the conditions below.    
 
15.  RECOMMENDATION:  
That the Committee would be minded to grant the application subject to the 
conditions set out in the report and recommends that the Head of Planning 
determines the application accordingly. 
 
1.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 
Location plan – Received 12/05/2020 
Block plan – Received 12/05/2020 
154/5A – Received 12/05/2020 
154/6B – Received 19/01/2021 
 
REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
2.  The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission. 
 
REASON:  This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 

3.  Prior to the installation of any railings detailed sections (scale 1:5) and elevations 
(scale 1:10) of the railings hereby approved, shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the development 
shall proceed in strict accordance with such details as have been agreed.  
 
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity. 
  
4. Prior to the installation of any steps details of the stone to be used shall have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, 
the development shall proceed in strict accordance with such materials as have been 
agreed. 
 
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
5. Prior to the installation of any steps details of the construction method shall have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 31



Page 6 of 6 
 

Thereafter, the development shall proceed in strict accordance with such details as 
have been agreed. 
 
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
Informatives 
 
1. In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning 
authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on 
providing sustainable development.  
The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:   
- offering a pre-application advice service, and             
- as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 
  
In this case:          
- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the opportunity to 
address issues identified by the case officer. 
 
2. In order to secure any necessary licences under the Highways Act, before the 
commencement of any works on or adjacent to the public highway, the applicant 
should contact Dorset Highways by telephone at Dorset Direct (01305 221000), by 
email at dorsetdirect@dorsetcc.gov.uk, or in writing at Dorset Highways, Dorset 
Council, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



1. Application Details 

Reference: P/FUL/2021/00148 

Site Location: West Rivers House, 13 West Allington, Bridport, Dorset, DT6 5BJ 

Proposal: Conversion of existing 4no. flats into 8no. flats 

Applicant: Dorset Council  

Case Officer: Huw Williams 

Ward Members: Councillor Dave Bolwell (Bridport Ward) 
Councillor Kelvin Clayton (Bridport Ward) 
Councillor Sarah Williams (Bridport Ward) 

The application, the plans and further information about the application may be 
inspected via the application webpages accessible by entering the application 
reference at https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/. 

The application is made by Dorset Council and is reported to Committee in 
accordance with Dorset Council’s constitution.  

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee resolve that it is minded to grant the application subject to the 
conditions set out in paragraph 13.1 below and recommends that the Head of 
Planning determines the application accordingly. 

3. Reason for Recommendation 

3.1 The recommendation has been made after consideration of: 
(i) the submitted application and further information submitted in support of the 

application; 
(ii) the development plan; 
(iii) national planning policy and guidance; 
(iv) supplementary planning documents;  
(v) consultation responses; and  
(vi) other material planning considerations set out in this report. 

3.2 The application was duly made and has been subject to appropriate publicity and 
consultation.  Applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.   

3.3 The application site is not subject to any development plan land use allocation or any 
site-specific policies or proposals but constitutes previously developed land that is 
located mostly within the defined development boundary for Bridport wherein 
residential, employment and other development to meet the needs of the local area 
is normally permitted.  Although not entirely in accordance with nationally described 
space standards for housing, it is considered that the proposal provides for an 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4d

https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=195579
https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/


acceptable form of specialist housing that is broadly in accordance with the 
development plan.  As Dorset Council cannot demonstrate a five year housing land 
supply for the West Dorset area and having regard to the circumstances of the 
Application Site and the nature of the intended use of the proposed flats, divergence 
from the nationally described Technical Standards for housing is permissible.  In the 
absence of any social, environmental, economic or other considerations either 
warranting or necessitating the determination of the application other than in 
accordance with the development plan, conditional planning permission can and 
should be granted.   

4. Summary of Main Issues 
 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development The application proposal provides for an 
appropriate and acceptable use of previously 
developed land to which there is no in principle 
land use policy objection. 

Impact on Designated Assets The proposed development: 
(i) would not detract from either the character 

or the appearance of the Dorset Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty;  

(ii) would not detract from either the character 
or the appearance of the Bridport 
Conservation Area; and 

(iii) would neither harm the setting nor detract 
from the heritage significance of any listed 
buildings. 

Subject to the submission, approval and 
implementation of a landscaping scheme sufficient 
to achieve both visual and ecological 
enhancement in accordance with policy objectives 
and requirements, impact will be slight/minor 
beneficial. 

Climate Change and Flood 
Risk 

The implications of the proposal for flood risk and 
the provision made in relation to climate change 
are acceptable. 

Design, Access and Standard 
of Accommodation 

Design and access arrangements are acceptable. 
Although not fully compliant with development plan 
requirements, the proposal is considered to 
provide a satisfactory standard of accommodation 
better suited to its intended purpose than the 
existing building arrangement.      

Impact on Amenity The proposed development would not have an 
unacceptable impact on residential amenity. 

Page 34



Equalities The proposed development would help to advance 
equality of opportunity and assist in fostering good 
relations. 

Human Rights The proposed development should not: 
(i) impact on the right to live one’s personal life 

without unjustified interference such that 
Article 8 would be engaged; nor 

(ii) unreasonably deprive any person of either 
their right to the peaceful enjoyment of their 
possessions or of their right to their 
possessions. 

5. The Application Site 

5.1 The planning application site (hereafter referred to as ‘the Application Site’) 
comprises approximately 1,550 sqm of land situated to the south of the B3162 (West 
Allington) close to the centre of Bridport that includes a three-storey building (West 
Rivers House) with associated parking and amenity areas and a single-storey 
storage building. 

5.2 West Rivers House is also known as Boldwood House and is in mixed use with the 
Oh Crumbs community café and office accommodation on the ground floor and 
multiple-occupancy residential dwellings (flats) on the first and second floors.  As 
currently configured, the flats provide a total of 17 bedrooms (1 two-bedroom flat, 1 
three-bedroom flat and 2 six-bedroom flats).  

5.3 Residential properties are located either side of the Application Site whilst to south 
(rear) is the Plottingham pay and display car park and the River Brit.   

5.4 Pedestrian and vehicular access to the Application Site is available from West 
Allington with pedestrian access additionally available through the pay and display 
car park from the adjoining Plottingham Playing Fields recreation ground.    

5.5 Vehicular access to the pay and display car park is through the Application Site.  
Buildings and facilities used by Bridport Town Council, the 1st Bridport Scout Group 
and the Bridport Sea Cadets are also accessed from the car park.   

5.6 The office space and storage building within the Application Site are occupied by 
Magna Housing Limited (Magna).  Magna is a not-for profit community-based 
housing association, a registered charity and a registered social housing provider.  

5.7 It is understood that the existing residential accommodation within West Rivers 
House has been managed by Magna and has previously been used to provide 
accommodation for homeless people and people at risk of homelessness but is 
currently unoccupied.  

6. The Proposed Development 

6.1 Planning permission is sought for the conversion (change of use) of the 4no. existing 
multi-occupancy flats into 8no. self-contained flats.   

Page 35



6.2 In addition to the requisite forms, certificate, fee and site location plan, the 
application includes: 
(i) existing and proposed floor plans; 
(ii) a Design and Access Statement; and 
(iii) a Flood Risk Assessment. 

6.3 The proposed internal arrangement provides for: 
(i) 2no. studio flats, with lounge/kitchen and bathroom; 
(ii) 2no. one-bedroom flats, with kitchen/lounge and bathroom; 
(iii) 2no. two-bedroom flats, with kitchen, lounge and bathroom; and 
(iv) 2no. three-bedroom flats, with kitchen, lounge and bathroom. 

6.4 Accordingly, as proposed, West Rivers House would contain a total 14 bedrooms, 3 
fewer than the current arrangement.  

6.5 The submitted Design and Access Statement notes that: 

“The Planning Application is for the internal alterations to the first and second 
floor levels of a mixed-use Building.   

The proposal is to create self-contained flats within the existing units, with 
similar previous use, which will allow a more suitable accommodation for 
homeless people and reduce the number of people occupying any one unit, 
with more efficient spaces, more control, privacy and a better distribution of 
internal areas.   

The property lies within an urban area of Bridport, within a varied urban and 
residential area with commercial, leisure, retail and residential features.  
Situated in a convenient location from the town centre, and within walking 
distance of local amenities.” 

6.6 Following the submission of the application, a revised Site Location Plan (Drawing 
No. A010 Revision P1) was submitted indicating a “Parking area allocated to flats” 
marked with 9 parking spaces.   

6.7 The application form indicates that the flats are proposed as affordable housing. 

7. Relevant Planning History 

7.1 Submission of the application followed informal pre-application discussions regarding 
the proposal. 

7.2 Planning permission has previously been granted for a range of developments within 
the Application Site.  Most recently, planning permission WD/D/16/000061 granted 
on 13 July 2016 authorised the change of use of the ground floor of West Rivers 
House (excluding the cafe) from meeting room, computer room and ancillary 
accommodation to office/reception space and ancillary accommodation (Use Class 
B1) and associated alterations.   

8. Designations, Designated Assets and Constraints 

8.1 The Application Site is located: 

Page 36



(i) entirely within the designated Dorset Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty; 
(ii) partly within and partly outside of the designated Bridport Conservation Area;  
(iii) partly within and partly outside the development boundary for Bridport defined 

in the adopted West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015; 
(iv) adjacent to (but outside) the area defined as ‘the Centre of Bridport’ in the 

made Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2036;  
(v) entirely within an area classified as Flood Zone 3 (High Probability) on the 

Environment Agency’s Flood Risk Map for Planning; 
(vi) partly within an area mapped as being at medium risk of surface water 

flooding; 
(vii) adjacent to a main river (the River Brit); 
(viii) entirely within an area identified by the Environment Agency as benefitting 

from flood defence; and 
(ix) partly within an area mapped by the Dorset Nature Partnership as having 

Higher Ecological Potential. 

8.2 No 15 West Allington to the west of the application Site is a Grade II listed building 
and forms part of a group of Grade II listed buildings located along West Allington. 

9. Policy Framework 

9.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) provides 
that in dealing with an application for planning permission the authority shall have 
regard to:  
(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, 
(b) a post-examination draft neighbourhood development plan, so far as material to 

the application, 
(c) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and 
(d) any other material considerations. 

9.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 
provides that if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made 
in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

The Development Plan 

9.3 The development plan includes: 
(i) the adopted West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015 (‘the 

Adopted Local Plan’); and 
(ii) the made Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan 2020–2036 (‘the Made 

Neighbourhood Plan’).  

9.4 The Adopted Local Plan addresses the period to 2031 providing a vision for the plan 
area as well as both strategic and more detailed development management policies 
including site specific policies and allocations.   

9.5 The Application Site is not subject to any site specific policies or to any land use 
allocations shown on the Proposals Map of the Adopted Local Plan but is located 
partly within and partly outside the defined development boundary for Bridport, West 
Rivers House being within the boundary and the amenity space to the rear of the 

Page 37



building being outside the boundary.  The development boundary also defines the 
extent of the Bridport Conservation Area, West Rivers House again being inside the 
Conservation Area and the amenity areas to the rear being outside the designated 
area. 

9.6 Having regard to the location of the Application Site and to the nature of the 
proposed development, the most relevant policies of the Adopted Local Plan are:  

• INT1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; 

• SUS2 – Distribution of Development;  

• ENV1 – Landscape, Seascape and Sites of Geological Interest;  

• ENV2 – Wildlife and Habitats;  

• ENV4 – Heritage Assets; 

• ENV5 – Flood Risk;  

• ENV10 – The Landscape and Townscape Setting;  

• ENV11 – The Pattern of Streets and Spaces;  

• ENV12 – The Design and Positioning of Buildings; 

• ENV13 – Achieving High Levels of Environmental Performance; 

• ENV15 – Efficient and Appropriate Use of Land; 

• ENV16 – Amenity; 

• HOUS4 – Development of Flats, Hostels and Houses in Multiple Occupation; 

• COM7 – Creating a Safe and Efficient Transport Network; and 

• COM9 – Parking Standards in New Development. 

9.7 The Made Neighbourhood Plan supports the strategic policies contained in the 
Adopted Local Plan and sets out a vision for Bridport for the period to 2036 that is 
supported by policies and a series of specific projects.  The Application Site is not 
subject to any site specific policies or allocations with the most relevant policies of 
the Made Neighbourhood Plan being: 

• Policy CC1 Publicising Carbon Footprint; 

• Policy CC2 Energy and Carbon emissions; 

• Policy CC3 Energy Generation; 

• Policy L1 Green Corridors, Footpaths, Surrounding Hills & Skylines; 

• Policy L2 Biodiversity; 

• Policy L5 Enhancement of the Environment; 

• Policy D1 Harmonising with the Site; and 

• Policy D5 Efficient Use of Land. 

9.8 Policy compliance is considered in section 12 of this report. 

Local Finance Considerations 

9.9 For the purposes of section 70(2) the term ‘local finance consideration’ means: 
(a) a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided 

to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown, or 
(b) sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment 

of Community Infrastructure Levy. 

9.10 It is understood that the proposed development may be part funded by means of 
government grant payable to Dorset Council.  The development would also generate 
receipts under the New Homes Bonus.  However, national planning practice 

Page 38



guidance indicates that whether or not a local finance consideration is material to a 
particular decision will depend on whether it could help to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms and further states that it would not be appropriate to 
make a decision based on the potential for the development to raise money for a 
local authority or other government body (NPPG, ID: 21b-011-20140612).  On this 
basis, neither the potential grant funding nor any other potential financial assistance 
is a material consideration in this instance.   

9.11 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) applies in Bridport but not all development 
is liable to pay the levy and some forms of development that are liable are ‘zero 
rated’ (i.e. the amount levied would be nil) and some development may be eligible for 
relief or exemption from the levy.  The proposed development is CIL liable but will 
likely be entitled to relief from the levy.   

9.12 Having regard to the former use of the property and to the nature of the proposed 
development, it is not considered that payment of the levy or any other sum is 
necessary to make the proposed development acceptable in planning terms.  
Accordingly, it is considered that there are no local finance considerations that are 
material to the determination of the application.  

Other Material Considerations 

9.13 The term “any other material consideration” is broad in scope, a material 
consideration being any planning matter relevant to making the decision in question.  
In relation to planning policy, the term encompasses national planning policy and 
guidance; supplementary planning documents and guidance; and emerging planning 
policy.  Within the Dorset Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, the Dorset ANOB 
Management Plan 2019-2024 is also material. 

National Planning Policy and Guidance 

9.14 Government planning policy set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (‘the 
NPPF’) is material to the determination of all applications for planning permission in 
England.   

9.15 The NPPF sets out policy on a range of relevant matters including: 

• Achieving sustainable development – paragraphs 7-14; 

• Decision making – paragraphs 38-58; 

• Delivering a sufficient supply of homes – paragraphs 59-79; 

• Promoting healthy and safe communities – paragraphs 91-101; 

• Promoting sustainable transport – paragraphs 102-111; 

• Making effective use of land – paragraphs 117-123; 

• Achieving well-designed places – paragraphs 124-132; 

• Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change – 
paragraphs 148-169; 

• Conserving and enhancing the natural environment – paragraphs 170-183; 
and 

• Conserving and enhancing the historic environment – paragraphs 184-202. 

9.16 Additional government policy addressing planning for waste management is set out 
in National Planning Policy for Waste (‘the NPPW’). 

Page 39



9.17 National Planning Practice Guidance (‘the NPPG’) adds further context to the 
government’s planning policies and it is intended that the policies set out in the 
NPPF and the NPPW are read together with the NPPG.   

9.18 The NPPF provides that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development (paragraph 7) and that achieving 
sustainable development means that the planning system has three overarching 
objectives – economic, social and environmental – which are interdependent and 
need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways, so that opportunities can be taken 
to secure net gains across each of the different objectives (paragraph 8).   

9.19 So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the 
NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision making, 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF provides that the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development means:  

• approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 

• where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which 
are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: 
(i) the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed, or  

(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF 
taken as a whole. 

9.20 As Dorset Council cannot at present demonstrate a five year housing land supply for 
the West Dorset area, the most relevant development plan policies are out-of-date 
such that the tilted balance in favour of development is engaged.   

9.21 Paragraph 38 of the NPPF provides that local planning authorities should approach 
decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way, using the full 
range of planning tools available and working proactively with applicants to secure 
developments that will improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of 
the area, and further provides that decision-makers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible. 

9.22 Paragraph 54 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should consider 
whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through 
the use of conditions or planning obligations and that planning obligations should 
only be used where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a 
planning condition. 

9.23 Compliance with national policy is considered in section 12 of this report. 

Supplementary Planning Policy and Guidance 

9.24 Further pertinent policy and/or guidance is provided in:  

Page 40



(i) the Dorset AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 which identifies the many 
special qualities of the Dorset AONB and sets out objectives and related 
policies to help guide decision making; 

(ii) the 2010 revised Bridport Conservation Area Appraisal which provides an in-
depth analysis of the special interest and significance of the Conservation 
Area;   

(iii) West Dorset District Council’s 2009 Supplementary Planning Document 
Design and Sustainable Development Guidelines which encourage high 
standards of design in keeping with local character and promotes the use of 
more sustainable construction methods; and 

(iv) the 2011 Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Residential Parking Study which 
describes parking standards for new residential development throughout 
Dorset and seeks to ensure that residential parking provision is designed to 
meet expected demand in such a way as to ensure the most efficient use of 
space and the best urban design. 

Emerging Planning Policy 

9.25 The Dorset Council Local Plan Options Consultation took place between January 
and March 2021. 

9.26 To be sound, development plans must be prepared positively, must be justified, must 
be effective and must be consistent with national policy (NPPF, paragraph 35). 

9.27 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that local planning authorities may give weight to 
relevant policies in emerging plans according to:  

“a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given); 

b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be 
given); and 

c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to 
this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in 
the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).” 

9.28 Being at a very early stage of preparation, the Consultation Draft Local Plan should 
be accorded very limited weight in decision making.   

10. Consultation Response 

10.1 Dorset Council Ward Members 

No response received. 

10.2 Bridport Town Council 

Responded on 23 March 2021 stating: 

Page 41

https://www.dorsetaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/DAONB_Managmentplan.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/planning-constraints/conservation-areas/west-dorset/pdfs/bridport-conservation-area-appraisal-revised-2010.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/west-dorset-and-weymouth-portland/other-planning-documents/pdfs/sg/design-sustainable-development-planning-guidelines-2009.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/transport-development-management/car-and-cycle-parking-standards.aspx


“Strongly support. This development provides much needed support in the 
community.” 

10.3 Dorset Council Transport Development Liaison Engineer 

Respond on 02 March 2021 indicating no objection subject to the imposition of a 
condition requiring the construction and maintenance of vehicular turning and 
parking in accordance with the details shown on the submitted Site Location Plan. 

10.4 Environment Agency 

Responded on 21 April 2024 noting that the proposal is for a change of use, with the 
current residential nature being maintained, such that there will be no increase in 
flood risk vulnerability from ‘more vulnerable’.  Further noted that residential 
development will be contained to the first floor upwards, with the ground floor 
remaining as current ‘less vulnerable’ use and that the residential uses will be above 
the flood level.  Also commented that as the alterations are purely internal, do not 
have an issue with the proximity to the river or flood defences.  Raise no objection 
but offer advice to the applicant regarding flood warning, emergency response and 
flood resilience. 

10.5 Dorset Council Technical Services (Flood Risk & Coastal Management) 

Responded on 26 February 2021 noting no objection in principle but commenting 
that site is located with Flood Zones 2 and 3 and in bank-top consultation area such 
that the Environment Agency should be consulted.  Further commented that as the 
building is within an area that benefits from flood defences and the proposals 
primarily involve internal alterations to the existing property at first and second floor 
levels, the proposed alterations should not exacerbate the prevailing flood risk. 
Advise that the applicant should still consider any possible flood mitigation measures 
as part of any changes at ground floor level and ensure that the occupants or the 
‘property’ are signed up to the Environment Agency’s flood warning service. 

11. Publicity and Other Representations 

11.1 The application was advertised by site notice displayed on 05 May 2021 and 
notification letters were sent to the owners/occupiers of 7 properties in the near 
vicinity of the Application Site.  At the time of writing (17 May 2021), save for the 
consultation responses noted above, no other representations have been received 
relating to the proposed development.  Any further representations received will be 
reported at Committee. 

12. Appraisal 

12.1 The main issues in the determination of the application relate to: 
(i) the adequacy of the information submitted in support of the application; 
(ii) the acceptability in principle of the proposed development; 
(iii) impact on the character and appearance of the Dorset AONB and the Bridport 

Conservation Area and on the setting of No. 15 West Allington and other 
nearby listed buildings; 

(iv) climate change and biodiversity; 

Page 42



(v) the acceptability of the design proposals and the standard of accommodation 
to be provided;  

(vi) impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers; and 
(vii) equality and human rights. 

Adequacy of Information Submitted in Support of Application  

12.2 Paragraph 43 of the NPPF is clear that the right information is crucial to good 
decision-making, particularly where formal assessments are required, but national 
practice guidance is equally clear that planning authorities should take a 
proportionate approach to the information requested in support of applications 
(NPPG, Reference ID: 14-038-201403060).  

12.3 As submitted, the application included a brief Design and Access Statement and 
detailed floor plans but has since been supplemented by the submission of a Flood 
Risk Assessment and further information about the proposed development and 
intended use.   

12.4 Environmental impact assessment (EIA) pursuant to the EIA Regulations has not 
been undertaken but has not been deemed necessary.  

12.5 All concerns raised in representations and/or during the processing of the application 
regarding the content of the application have been addressed adequately and there 
are no unresolved objections to the application.  Moreover, it is considered that such 
further details and actions as may be necessary to secure a satisfactory level of 
compliance with the development plan may reasonably be secured by means of 
planning condition.   

12.6 Recommended conditions are set out in section 13.1 below.  The applicant’s agent 
has been advised about the content of the proposed conditions and no objection to 
their imposition has been raised.  

12.7 Accordingly, subject to imposition of the recommended conditions, I am satisfied that 
adequate information has been provided for the application to be determined and for 
planning permission to be granted. 

Principle of Development  

12.8 Although predating the current version of the NPPF, Policy INT1 of the Adopted 
Local Plan provides that there will be a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development that will improve the economic, social and environmental conditions in 
the area and that where relevant policies are out of date at the time of making the 
decision, the following matters will be taken into account:  
(i) the extent to which the proposal positively contributes to the strategic 

objectives of the local plan;  
(ii) whether specific policies in that National Planning Policy Framework indicate 

that development should be restricted; and  
(iii) whether the adverse impacts of granting permission could significantly 

outweigh the benefits. 

Page 43



12.9 The Application Site comprises previously developed land that is located partly within 
and partly outside the development boundary for Bridport and which has a history of 
mixed residential and commercial use. 

12.10 Policy SUS2 of the Adopted Local Plan provides: 
(i) that within the defined development boundaries residential, employment and 

other development to meet the needs of the local area will normally be 
permitted; and  

(ii) that outside the defined development boundaries development will be strictly 
controlled, having particular regard to the need for the protection of the 
countryside and environmental constraints, with such development restricted 
to specified forms of development identified to include, amongst others, 
alterations and extensions to existing buildings in line with their current lawful 
use, including their subdivision or replacement. 

12.11 As West Rivers House is located entirely within the defined development boundary 
for Bridport and no operational development nor any change of use is proposed in 
those parts of the Application Site that are located outside the development 
boundary, the application proposal does not conflict with Policy SUS2 of the Adopted 
Local Plan. 

12.12 Amongst other matters: 
(i) paragraph 118 of the NPPF provides that planning decisions:  

• should encourage multiple benefits from urban land; 

• should give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield 
land within settlements for homes and other identified needs; and  

• should promote and support the development of under-utilised land and 
buildings, especially if this would help to meet identified needs for 
housing where land supply is constrained and available sites could be 
used more effectively; and 

(ii) Policy D5 of the Made Neighbourhood Plan states that applications for 
residential development above commercial ground floors will be supported. 

12.13 The submitted Design and Access Statement explains that the proposal is to create 
self-contained flats within the existing residential floorspace with similar previous use 
but with fewer people occupying any one unit, more efficient spaces, more control, 
greater privacy and a better distribution of internal areas, thereby providing more 
suitable accommodation to be provided. 

12.14  If implemented, the proposal would perpetuate the mixed-use use of West Rivers 
House with commercial use on the ground floor and residential use on the upper 
floors, with both carrying out of the proposed development and the continued use of 
the building being to the benefit of the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the locality. 

12.15 The proposal therefore provides for an appropriate and acceptable use of previously 
developed land to which there is no in principle land use policy objection. 

Page 44



Impact on Designated Assets 

12.16 An Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is a designated exceptional 
landscape whose distinctive character and natural beauty are precious enough to be 
safeguarded in the national interest.  In exercising or performing any functions in 
relation to, or so as to affect, land in an AONB, public bodies are required to have 
regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area. 

12.17 The Dorset AONB extends across 1,129 square kilometres and has many special 
qualities including an exceptional undeveloped coastline, uninterrupted panoramic 
views and a sense of tranquillity and remoteness.  Bridport is one of several market 
towns located entirely within the designated area. 

12.18 Conservation Areas are designated on account of their special architectural or 
historic interest, the character and appearance of which it is desirable to preserve 
and enhance.  In exercising planning control with respect to any building or land in a 
conservation area, special attention must be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the area.  

12.19 The Bridport Conservation Area Appraisal provides a detailed analysis of the special 
interest and significance of the designated area, noting the presence of over 500 
listed buildings and 9 distinct character areas or sub-areas.  West Rivers House is 
shown to be in the West Allington sub-area described as containing a mixture of 
elegant early Victorian villas, two older detached stone houses, humbler terraces and 
more modern detached properties and wherein safeguarding the setting of Allington 
Hill is identified as a key objective.  More generally, the Appraisal notes the objective 
or retaining and respecting the identities of each of the sub-areas.  

12.20 Buildings and/or structure are listed on account of special architectural and/or historic 
interest, with grade II buildings being of special interest, grade II* buildings being of 
more than special interest and grade I buildings being of exceptional interest.  No 
additional consent is required to alter the setting of any heritage asset but in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, special regard must be paid to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.   

12.21 The heritage significance of No 15 West Allington and other nearby listed buildings 
derives from both their architectural (aesthetic) and historic (evidential) interest.  

12.22 Paragraph 172 of the NPPF provides that great weight should be given to conserving 
and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONBs), and that conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage 
are also important considerations in AONBs. 

12.23 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater 
the weight should be) and that this is irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance.  Paragraph 194 of the NPPF notes that any harm to, or loss of, the 

Page 45



significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from 
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification. 

12.24 Policy ENV1 of the Adopted Local Plan provides that the plan area’s exceptional 
landscapes and seascapes and geological interest will be protected, taking into 
account the objectives of the Dorset AONB Management Plan and that development 
should be located and designed so that it does not detract from and, where 
reasonable, enhances the local landscape character.  

12.25 Policy L1 of the Made Neighbourhood Plan provides that proposals must preserve 
and enhance the natural beauty of the Dorset AONB by:  

“a) Being located on sites that do not adversely affect the wider landscape 
setting. 

b) Being designed in such a way as to positively exploit the site features using 
form, scale materials and an architectural approach appropriate to the site 
context.” 

12.26 It is further stated that proposals that do not preserve and enhance the AONB will be 
refused. 

12.27 Policy ENV2 of the Adopt Local Plan provides that opportunities to incorporate and 
enhance biodiversity in and around developments will be encouraged and Policy L2 
of the Made Neighbourhood Plan provides that development proposals will be 
expected to demonstrate how they will provide a net gain in biodiversity and, where 
feasible, habitats and species, on the site, over and above the existing biodiversity 
situation.   

12.28 Policy ENV4 of the Adopted Local Plan provides that the impact of development on a 
designated or non-designated heritage asset and its setting must be thoroughly 
assessed against the significance of the asset, and that development should 
conserve and where appropriate enhance the significance. 

12.29 Amongst other matters, Policy ENV10 of the Adopted Local Plan provides that: 

• all development proposals should contribute positively to the maintenance and 
enhancement of local identity and distinctiveness; 

• development should only be permitted where it provides sufficient hard and 
soft landscaping to successfully integrate with the character of the site and its 
surrounding area; and  

• opportunities to incorporate features that would enhance local character, 
including public art, or that relate to the historical, ecological or geological 
interest of a site, should be taken where appropriate. 

12.30 Proposed works to the exterior of West Rivers House are very limited and would not 
materially impact on ether the external appearance of the building or the character of 
the surrounding area.   

12.31 Proposed change within the external areas of the Application Site is limited to the 
repurposing of a hard surfaced area that is currently used for vehicle manoeuvring as 
additional parking space. 

Page 46



12.32 I am satisfied that the proposed development is compatible with the character of the 
West Allington area and: 
(i) would not detract from either the character or the appearance of the Dorset 

AONB; 
(ii) would not detract from either the character or the appearance of the Bridport 

Conservation Area; and 
(iii) would neither harm the setting nor detract from the heritage significance of 

any listed buildings. 

12.33 No landscaping has been proposed within the Application Site but the submission, 
approval and implementation of a landscaping scheme sufficient to achieve both 
visual and ecological enhancement in accordance with policy objectives and 
requirements can be secured by means of planning condition, such that the 
character and appearance of both the Dorset AONB and the Bridport Conservation 
Area would be enhanced. 

12.34 In relation to impact on designated assets, subject to the imposition of a condition 
securing the submission, approval and implementation of a landscaping scheme, 
development would be beneficial and in accordance with policy requirements. 

Climate Change and Flood Risk 

12.35 Paragraph 149 of the NPPF provides that new development should be planned for in 
ways that avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate 
change and can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

12.36 Paragraph 155 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk 
(whether existing or future) and where development is necessary in such areas, the 
development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere. 

12.37 Policy ENV5 provides that new development should be planned to avoid risk of 
flooding (from surface water run-off, groundwater, fluvial and coastal sources) where 
possible and that the risk of flooding will be minimised by:  
(i) steering development towards the areas of lowest risk and avoiding 

inappropriate development in the higher flood risk zones; 
(ii) ensuring development will not generate flooding through surface water runoff 

and/or exacerbate flooding elsewhere. 

12.38 Whilst located entirely within Flood Zone 3, adjacent to a main river and partly in an 
area mapped as being partly at risk of surface water flooding, the submitted Flood 
Risk Assessment demonstrates:  
(i) that the development would not result in a material increase in flood risk within 

or beyond the Application Site; 
(ii) that adequate measures to mitigate flood risk and ensure potential occupants 

will be safe can be secured by means of planning condition; and   
(iii) that the proposed arrangements for access to and escape from the building 

are satisfactory.   

12.39 The requirements of Policy ENV5 of the Adopted Local Plan are therefore met. 

Page 47



12.40 Policy ENV13 of the Adopted Local Plan provides that new buildings and alterations / 
extensions to existing buildings are expected to achieve high standards of 
environmental performance and Policy CC1 of the Made Neighbourhood Plan 
provides that applicants should seek to minimise the carbon footprint of development 
proposals and are encouraged to submit a statement setting out the anticipated 
carbon emissions of the proposed development. 

12.41 Policy CC2 of the Made Neighbourhood Plan provides that new development should 
aim to meet a high level of energy efficiency where achievable, by:  
a) exceeding the target emission rate of Building Regulations Part L 2013 for 

dwellings; and 
b) meeting the relevant design category of Buildings Research Establishment 

BREEAM building standard “excellent” for non-residential development. 

12.42 Policy CC3 of the Made Neighbourhood Plan provides that new development, both 
commercial and residential is encouraged, where possible, to secure at least 10% of 
its total unregulated energy from decentralised and renewable or low carbon 
sources. 

12.43 The application is not supported by a statement setting out anticipated carbon 
emissions but the applicant’s agent has advised that West Rivers House will be 
upgraded to meet current Building Regulations standards, with upgraded heating, 
rewiring and the installation of air source heat pumps that will far exceed the current 
standard of the building.  No electric vehicle charging points are proposed, but the 
retained and proposed parking spaces are all positioned close the building and/or 
site boundaries where retrofitting electric vehicle charging facilities when and as 
need is likely to be straight forward. 

12.44 The implications of the proposal for flood risk and the provision made in relation to 
climate change are acceptable. 

Design, Access and Standard of Accommodation 

12.45 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF provides that the creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve 
and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creating better 
places in which to live and work and helping make development acceptable to 
communities.  

12.46 Amongst other matters, paragraph 127 of the NPPF provides that planning decisions 
should ensure that developments: 
(i) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 

short term but over the lifetime of the development;  
(ii) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate 

and effective landscaping;  
(iii) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 

environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities);  

(iv) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development and support local facilities and transport 
networks; and 

Page 48



(v) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine 
the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 

12.47 Policy D1 of the Made Neighbourhood Plan states that a housing development will 
be required to respect and work in harmony with:  
a. the local landform and microclimate 
b. the existing pedestrian, cyclists and motorised network 
c. existing features that are locally significant or important for local character, 

historical, ecological or geological reasons d. neighbouring land uses. 

12.48 It is further stated that opportunities to incorporate features that would enhance local 
character, or the historical, ecological or geological interest of a site, should be taken 
if practical and appropriate. 

12.49 Amongst other matters, Policy ENV11 of the Adopted Local Plan states that within 
and adjoining existing settlements, development should ensure that:  

• places are designed to be clear and simple for people to find their way 
around, and not dominated by the road layout and parking; and 

• provision is made for bin stores, recycling facilities, drying areas, cycle 
parking, mobility scooter storage and private amenity/garden space (and 
associated storage and composting facilities) appropriate to the uses 
proposed and character of the area. 

12.50 Policy ENV12 of the Adopted Local Plan provides that development will achieve a 
high quality of sustainable and inclusive design and will only be permitted where it 
complies with national technical standards and where the siting, alignment, design, 
scale, mass, and materials used complements and respects the character of the 
surrounding area or would actively improve legibility or reinforce the sense of place. 

12.51 Policy ENV 13 of the Adopted Local Plan states that development should optimise 
the potential of the site and make efficient use of land, subject to the limitations 
inherent in the site and impact on local character. 

12.52 Policy D5 of the Made neighbourhood Plan similarly provides that development 
should make efficient use of land, and layouts that create wasted or leftover land will 
not be supported.  It is further stated that the design and management of outdoor 
spaces within and adjoining settlements should fully utilise the opportunities for: 

• Recreation and social interaction.  

• Dealing with surface water drainage and alleviating flooding.  

• Providing new or enhancing existing wildlife habitats.  

• Incorporating landscape solutions to soften the urbanising impact of new 
development 

12.53 Policy L5 of the Made Neighbourhood Plan states that, appropriate to the scale of 
development, proposals for new housing development should:  
(i) include good quality outdoor space, both private and community gardens, and 

contribute to providing tree cover and improving biodiversity and 
(ii) make provision for green infrastructure. 

Page 49



12.54 Policy HOUS4 of the Adopted Local Plan provides that proposals for flats, hostels 
and houses in multiple occupation should:  

• be compatible with the character of the area;  

• not result in a cramped form of development; 

• provide sufficient private amenity space within the site for the likely future 
occupants, normally comprising at least 10% of the site area for conversions 
providing 4 or more flats, and 20% of the site area for all new build schemes, 
unless such provision is undesirable in design terms. 

12.55 Policy AM5 of the Made Neighbourhood Plan provides that development proposals 
should, where achievable, include provisions to enable access to public and 
community transport and provide easy connections to the social, community and 
retail facilities of the neighbourhood plan area. 

12.56 Being located close to Bridport Town Centre and being adjacent to the Plottingham 
Playing Fields, the Application Site provides good access to the local facilities and 
amenities.   

12.57 With a reduction in the total number of bedrooms provided within West River House, 
the proposed development is considered unlikely to generate increased pedestrian 
and/or vehicular movements.     

12.58 The existing site arrangement provide for safe and convenient means of access to 
and egress from the Application Site and the proposed car parking is considered 
adequate to serve the development.  Existing servicing arrangements within the site 
satisfy the requirements of Policy ENV11 of the Adopted Local Plan and additional 
landscaping will secure enhancement of external areas in accordance with Policies 
D1, D5 and L5 of Made Neighbourhood Plan.  

12.59 In addition to setting minimum overall internal space standards for new dwellings at a 
defined level of occupancy, the Department for Communities and Local 
Government’s March 2015 publication Technical housing standards – nationally 
described space standard (‘the Technical Standards for Housing’) specify floor areas 
and dimensions for key parts of the home, notably bedrooms, storage and floor to 
ceiling height.  The proposed internal arrangements do not entirely accord with the 
Technical Standards for Housing, with the two studio flats being substantially smaller 
than the specified requirements for single-storey one-bedroom one-person (1b1p) 
properties.    The application proposal therefore conflicts with the requirement 
contained in Policy ENV12 of the Adopted Local Plan for compliance with national 
technical standards.  However, the flats are proposed to be used to meet a 
recognised need for short-term accommodation for people who are homeless or at 
risk of homelessness for which the single-occupancy units will be especially useful, 
particularly should residents be required to self-isolate for a period.  As the intention 
is that the units will be used as a specialist form of short-term accommodation and it 
is apparent that the studio units could be readily combined with the adjacent one-bed 
flats to create Standard compliant two-bedroom flats in the future, the proposed 
arrangements are considered to be acceptable.  Equally, in circumstances that the 
proposed development would not have any unacceptable impact on the areas or 
assets of particular importance referenced in paragraph 11 of the NPPF planning 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 

Page 50

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/524531/160519_Nationally_Described_Space_Standard____Final_Web_version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/524531/160519_Nationally_Described_Space_Standard____Final_Web_version.pdf


significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. 

12.60 Private amenity space within the application site is currently limited to small areas at 
the rear of the West Rivers House, but all of the flats will benefit from ready access 
to the Plottingham Playing Fields recreation ground. 

12.61 Overall, whilst not fully compliant with development plan requirements, the proposal 
is considered to provide a satisfactory standard of accommodation better suited to its 
intended purpose than the existing building arrangement.  On this basis, the design 
and access arrangements are considered to be acceptable.      

Impact on Amenity 

12.62 Policy ENV16 provides that proposals for development should be designed to 
minimize their impact on the amenity and quiet enjoyment of both existing residents 
and future residents within the development and close to it and that development 
proposals will only be permitted provided:  

• They do not have a significant adverse effect on the living conditions of 
occupiers of residential properties through loss of privacy; 

• They do not have a significant adverse effect on the amenity of the occupiers 
of properties through inadequate daylight or excessive overshadowing, 
overbearing impact or flicker; 

• They do not generate a level of activity or noise that will detract significantly 
from the character and amenity of the area or the quiet enjoyment of 
residential properties; and 

• They do not generate unacceptable pollution, vibration or detrimental 
emissions unless it can be demonstrated that the effects on amenity and living 
conditions, health and the natural environment can be mitigated to the 
appropriate standard. 

12.63 With no material change to the external appearance of West Rivers House and a 
reduction in the total number of bedrooms within the building, the continued use of 
the existing residential accommodation as dwelling houses is unlikely to generate a 
level of activity or noise that would materially detract from either the character or the 
amenities of the area or the quiet enjoyment of neighbouring properties.  Moreover, 
having regard to the relative positioning of the existing and proposed habitable 
rooms, I am content that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact on 
residential amenity on account of loss of privacy. 

Equalities 

12.64 Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended) provides that in the exercise of 
its functions a public authority must have due regard to the need to: 
(i) eliminate discrimination, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited 

by or under the Act; 
(i) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
(ii) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Page 51



12.65 Commonly referred to as ‘the Public Sector Equalities Duty’, the relevant protected 
characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

12.66 As the proposed development is focussed on the provision of specialist 
accommodation for which there is a recognised need, it is considered that the 
proposed development would help to advance equality of opportunity and assist in 
fostering good relations. 

Human Rights 

12.67 The Human Rights Act 1998 imposes an obligation on public authorities not to act 
incompatibly with the European Convention on Human Rights.  The articles/protocols 
of particular relevance are: 
(i) Article 6 - Right to a fair and public hearing; 
(ii) Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life; and 
(iii) The First Protocol, Article 1 - Protection of Property. 

12.68 Rights under Article 6 and 8 are qualified rights, meaning that interference with them 
may be justified if deemed necessary in the interests of national security, public 
safety or the economic well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder or 
crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the rights and 
freedoms of others. 

12.69 Article 1 of Protocol 1 provides that a person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of 
his possessions and that no-one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the 
public interest.  The term “possessions” may include material possessions, such as 
property, and also planning permissions and possibly other rights.   

12.70 Any interference with a Convention right must be proportionate to the intended 
objective, such that any interference should be carefully designed to meet the 
objective in question and not be arbitrary, unfair or overly severe.   

12.71 European case law suggests that interference with the human rights noted above will 
only be considered to engage those Articles and thereby cause a breach of human 
rights where that interference is significant.   

12.72 For the reasons set out in this report, I am satisfied that the proposed development 
should not: 
(i) impact on the right to live one’s personal life without unjustified interference 

such that Article 8 would be engaged; nor 
(ii) unreasonably deprive any person of either their right to the peaceful 

enjoyment of their possessions or of their right to their possessions. 

Conclusion 

12.73 The application site is not subject to any development plan land use allocation or any 
site-specific policies or proposals but constitutes previously developed land that is 
located mostly within the defined development boundary for Bridport wherein 
residential, employment and other development to meet the needs of the local area 
is normally permitted.  Although not entirely in accordance with nationally described 

Page 52



space standards for housing, it is considered that the proposal provides for an 
acceptable form of specialist housing that is broadly in accordance with the 
development plan.  As Dorset Council cannot demonstrate a five year housing land 
supply for the West Dorset area and having regard to the circumstances of the 
Application Site and the nature of the intended use of the proposed flats, divergence 
from the nationally described Technical Standards for housing is permissible.  In the 
absence of any social, environmental, economic or other considerations either 
warranting or necessitating the determination of the application other than in 
accordance with the development plan, conditional planning permission can and 
should be granted.   

13. Details for Inclusion in Decision Notice 

13.1 Recommended Planning Conditions

Time Limit – Commencement of Development 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  

Reason 
In accordance with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 

Development in Accordance with Approved Plans 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following plans submitted as part of the application: 
(i) Dorset Property Drawing No. A010 Revision P1 dated March 2020 and 

titled Site Location Plan; 
(ii) Dorset Property Drawing No. A303 Revision P4 dated 20.01.21 and 

titled FIRST FLOOR PLAN Demolition & Spot Items (but showing 
proposed Ground Floor arrangements); 

(iii) Dorset Property Drawing No. A304 Revision P4 dated 20.01.21 and 
titled FIRST FLOOR PLAN Demolition & Spot Items; and 

(iv) Dorset Property Drawing No. A304 Revision P4 dated 20.01.21 and 
titled SECOND FLOOR PLAN Demolition & Spot Items. 

Reason: In accordance with the application proposal and to regulate the 
development having regard to Policies ENV1, ENV2, ENV4, ENV10, ENV11, 
ENV12, ENV13 and ENV16 of the adopted Weymouth and Portland Local 
Plan 2015 and to Polices AM5, L1, L2, L5 D1 and D5 of the made Bridport 
Area Neighbourhood Plan 2020–2036. 

Flood Risk Resistance and Resilience 
3. Prior to the first residential occupation of any of the flats hereby permitted, 

arrangements for the implementation and maintenance of flood risk resistance 
and resilience measures shall be submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority.  All approved flood risk resistance and residence measures 
shall be implemented and maintained in accordance with the arrangements 
approved under this condition.  

Page 53



Reason: To secure the implementation of appropriate flood risk resistance 
and resilience measures having regard to Policy ENV5 of the adopted 
Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015. 

Provision and Maintenance of Vehicular Parking and Turning   
4. Prior to the first residential occupation of any of the flats hereby permitted, the 

parking spaces and vehicular manoeuvring areas shown on Dorset Property 
Drawing No. A010 Revision P1 dated March 2020 and titled Site Location 
Plan shall be laid out and constructed in accordance with that drawing.  
Thereafter, these areas: 
(i) shall be made available for use by the occupants of the flats hereby 

permitted; and 
(ii) shall be maintained for the manoeuvring and parking of vehicles; and  
(iii) shall be kept free from other obstruction. 

Reason: To ensure adequate provision is made and maintained for vehicular 
parking in accordance with the application proposal and in the interest of 
highway safety having regard to Policy COM9 of the adopted Weymouth and 
Portland Local Plan 2015. 

Landscape and Ecology Management Plan 
5. Prior to the first residential occupation of the any of the flats hereby permitted 

a site Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The submitted plan 
shall include a description and evaluation of features to be managed and a 
work schedule including planting and maintenance specifications.  The 
approved LEMP shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and arrangements. 

Reason 
To enhance the character and appearance of the application site, the Bridport 
Conservation Area and the Dorset Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and to 
provide net gain for biodiversity having regard to Policies ENV1, ENV2, ENV4 
and ENV10 of the adopted Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015 and to 
Polices L1, L5,  D1 and D5 of the made Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan 
2020–2036.  

13.2 Informative Notes to be Included on Decision Notice

Statement of Positive Involvement 
1. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework, Dorset County Council, as local planning authority, takes a positive and 
proactive approach to development proposals focused on solutions.  The Council 
worked with the applicant’s agent in a positive and proactive manner by: 
(i) providing pre-application advice; 
(ii) updating the applicant of issues as they arose in the processing of the 

application; and 
(iii) providing the applicant with the opportunity to address issues of concern with 

a view to facilitating a recommendation to grant permission.  

Page 54



Flood Risk – Resilience Measures 
2. Having regard to the flood risk context of the application site, in the interest of the 

safety of future residential occupiers and other users of West Rivers House, it is 
recommended that the flood resilience measures proposed for approval under 
condition 3 above should include ensuring that the property and/or its occupants are 
signed up to the Environment Agency’s flood warning service. 

Further Information 
3. Further information relating to this decision may be viewed online through the 

application webpages accessible by entering the application details at 
https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/. 

 

Page 55

https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Public Participation
	4a WD/D/19/002903 - Osmington Mills Holidays, Osmington Mills, Weymouth, DT3 6HB
	4b WD/D/19/001641 - 7 St Andrews Road, Bridport, DT6 3BG
	4c WD/D/20/001117 - 7 St Andrews Road, Bridport, DT6 3BG
	4d P/FUL/2021/00148 - West Rivers House, 13 West Allington, Bridport, DT6 5BJ

